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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

 The Petitioner is RICHARD JACK HARDY, Defendant and 

Appellant in the case below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Petitioner seeks review of the Unpublished Opinion of the 

Court of Appeals Division 2, case number 50497-9, which was filed 

on October 2, 2018, and the Order Denying Motion for 

Reconsideration, which was filed on February 28, 2019.  (Attached 

in Appendix)  The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction, 

sentence and financial obligations entered against Petitioner in the 

Pierce County Superior Court. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is Richard Hardy entitled to relief from the imposition of 
certain legal financial obligations and interest on those 
obligations after enactment of House Bill 1783 and this 
Court’s holding that the amendments in that bill apply 
prospectively to defendants whose cases are still pending on 
appeal? 

 
2. Was Richard Hardy denied his constitutional right to venue 

and to have his case tried in the county where the offenses 
were alleged to have been committed, and did the trial court 
abuse its discretion by failing to take action to protect 
Richard Hardy’s constitutional right to venue, after the State 
insisted that it would ask the jury to convict Hardy of one 
count of rape of a child in the first degree based on an 
incident that occurred in King County?   

 
3. Was Richard Hardy denied his constitutional right to venue 
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and to have his case tried in the county where the offenses 
were alleged to have been committed, and did the trial court 
abuse its discretion by failing to take action to protect 
Richard Hardy’s constitutional right to venue, where the trial 
court failed to instruct the jury that it must find by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the charged offenses 
were committed in Pierce County?   

 
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 The State charged Richard Jack Hardy with four counts of 

rape of a child in the first degree (RCW 9A.44.073).  (CP 185-87)  

The State also alleged that the offenses were aggravated because 

Hardy used his position of trust to facilitate commission of the 

crimes (RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n)).  (CP 185-87)  The State alleged 

that Hardy committed these offenses between December 12, 2002 

and December 11, 2008, while E.E., his girlfriend’s daughter, was 

aged six to 11 years.  (CP 185-87)   

 The jury found Hardy guilty as charged.  (CP 177-84; RP 

955-56)  The trial court imposed an exceptional minimum term of 

380 months and a maximum term of life in prison.  (CP 205, 208; 

RP 975)  Hardy timely appealed.  (CP 188)   

The Court of Appeals affirmed Hardy’s conviction and 

sentence in an Unpublished Opinion and subsequently and denied 

his Motion for Reconsideration. 
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 B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

 Melissa and James Eriksen were married in 1996.  (RP 675-

66)  Their daughter, E.E., was born on December 12, 1996.  (RP 

581, 723)  Melissa and James divorced when E.E. was about three 

and a half years old, and Melissa retained primary custody of E.E.1  

(RP 584, 677, 726)  At first, Melissa and E.E. lived with Melissa’s 

mother in Gig Harbor.  (RP 585, 726)  They eventually moved to an 

apartment in University Place.  (RP 586, 728) 

 Melissa met and started dating Richard Hardy in November 

of 2001.  (RP 726)  According to Melissa, E.E. was very rude to 

Hardy and spit in his face the first time they met.  (RP 733)  Hardy 

told Melissa he would break up with her if she did not address 

E.E.’s bad behavior.  (RP 733-34)  Nevertheless, Hardy moved in 

with Melissa and E.E. soon after.  (RP 586, 728)  E.E. was nearly 

five years old at the time.  (RP 585, 586)   

 In late 2002 or early 2003, Hardy, Melissa and E.E. moved 

into a two bedroom apartment in Lakewood.  (RP 589, 732, 736)  

E.E. was six years old at the time.  (RP 589, 590)  About eight 

months later, when E.E. was seven years old, they moved again to 

                                                 
1 Several witnesses share the last name of Eriksen.  To avoid confusion, they will 
be referred to by their first names. 
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an apartment in Federal Way.  (RP 590-91, 738, 739)   

Melissa claimed that around that time, Hardy started getting 

physical with her when they argued, and that he verbally threatened 

and physically assaulted her several times.  (RP 740-41)  After 

about a year and a half in the Federal Way apartment, Melissa 

decided to leave Hardy.  (RP 741)  So in June of 2004, she and 

E.E. moved back to Melissa’s mother’s house in Gig Harbor.  (RP 

591, 741, 742)  E.E. was about seven and a half years old at the 

time.  (RP 591) 

 But Melissa and Hardy reconciled, and in October of 2004 

they moved into an apartment together in Gig Harbor.  (RP 742-43)  

E.E. did not go with them, and instead moved in with her father and 

stepmother, James and Jessica Eriksen.  (RP 592-93, 751, 679)  

E.E. stayed with her mother and Hardy on weekends.  (RP 594, 

746)  E.E. turned twelve years old on December 12, 2008, and she 

started spending less and less of her time with Melissa and Hardy.  

(RP 595, 597) 

 According to E.E., Hardy began molesting her when she was 

six years old, and the molestation continued three or four times a 

month until she turned 12.  (RP 598, 602, 603-04)  The first incident 

occurred when they lived in the Lakewood apartment.  (RP 589, 
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599)  Typically, Hardy would come into her bedroom at night and 

would pace around to see if she was asleep.  (RP 599-600)  Then 

he would take her blankets off, rip a small hole in her underpants, 

and touch her genitals with his finger.  (RP 600-01)  Most of the 

time his finger would stay on the outside of her body, but on seven 

or eight different occasions his finger would penetrate her vagina.  

(RP 601, 602-03) 

 E.E. also described one incident that occurred when they 

lived in the Federal Way apartment.  (RP 605)  While Melissa was 

at work, Hardy asked E.E. if she wanted to play a “taste test” game.  

(RP 606)  E.E. put on a blindfold, then Hardy gave her bites of food 

and E.E. would try to guess what it was.  (RP 606)  According to 

E.E., Hardy gave her a few food items then put his penis in her 

mouth.  (RP 606)  

 E.E. testified that she was scared of Hardy because he was 

physically violent with her mother.  (RP 632)  According to E.E., on 

several occasions Hardy hit Melissa or threatened to kill her, and 

once held a knife to her neck.  (RP 632)  She also testified that 

Hardy would punish E.E. by hitting her with a belt, striking her with 

the metal buckle and sometimes leaving welts.  (RP 633) 

 When E.E. was seven years old, she told Melissa that Hardy 
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was molesting her.  (RP 634, 772)  Melissa did not believe E.E., 

and told E.E. that she thought E.E. was “fucking lying.”  (RP 635, 

772)  Melissa thought E.E. was making it up because she had 

never observed any tension or odd behavior between Hardy and 

E.E.  (RP 772)  Melissa testified that she asked E.E. about her 

allegation about six months later, and E.E. then told her nothing 

had happened.  (RP 773-74, 794)  E.E. testified that she did not tell 

anyone else at the time because she thought that if her own mother 

did not believe her then no one else would either.  (RP 671)   

James recalled that E.E. would get upset whenever it was 

time for her to visit Melissa and Hardy.  (RP 679-80)  He testified 

that E.E. said it was because Hardy was mean to her, and that he 

always yelled and spanked her.  (RP 680, 688)  James also 

testified that he noticed small holes in E.E.’s underpants when he 

did the laundry, but he did not think anything of it at the time.  (RP 

689) 

E.E. testified that she eventually told her brother about the 

molestation during a car ride to Great Wolf Lodge when she was 

about 14 years old.  (RP 637)  But her brother could not recall this 

conversation.  (RP 845, 847-48) 

 E.E. also tried to talk to Melissa about the molestation 
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several more times, but they would just argue.  (RP 639-40, 641, 

643)  In 2015, E.E. told James and Jessica, and they encouraged 

her to go to the police.  (RP 647, 649, 650, 691, 705)  E.E. went to 

the police station and filed a report on September 9, 2015.  (RP 

536-37, 650-51) 

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES 

 The issues raised by Hardy’s petition should be addressed 

by this Court because the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with 

settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the 

United State’s Supreme Court.  RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). 

A.  HARDY’S JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE CONTAINS COST 

PROVISIONS THAT ARE NO LONGER AUTHORIZED BY THE LEGAL 

FINANCIAL OBLIGATION STATUTES. 
 

 Hardy was sentenced on April 27, 2017.  The trial court 

agreed that Hardy did not have the ability to repay discretionary 

legal financial obligations (LFOs).  (RP 976-77)  The trial court 

imposed the then-mandatory $500.00 crime victim assessment fee, 

$100.00 DNA database collection fee, and $200.00 criminal filing 

fee.  (CP 206; RP 976)  The Judgment and Sentence also included 

a provision stating that “[t]he financial obligations imposed in this 

judgment shall bear interest from the date of the judgment until 

payment in full[.]”  (CP 207)  The trial court found that Hardy did not 
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have the financial resources to pay for his appeal and signed an 

Order of Indigency.  (CP 192-93; RP 980) 

Hardy filed a Notice of Appeal on April 27, 2017 and his 

Opening Brief of Appellant on September 25, 2017.   

Engrossed Second Substitute House Bill 1783, 65th Leg., 

Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2018) (HB 1783) amended the legal financial 

obligation (LFO) system in Washington State.  The Bill amended 

several statutes related to the imposition of discretionary costs on 

indigent defendants and interest on such costs.  Laws of 2018, ch. 

269; State v. Ramirez, 191 Wn.2d 732, 426 P.3d 714 (2018).  HB 

1783’s amendments were effective as of June 7, 2018.  In Ramirez, 

this Court held that HB 1783’s amendments applied prospectively 

to Ramirez’s case because it was still on appeal and his judgment 

was not yet final.  191 Wn.2d at 749.  The Ramirez decision was 

filed on September 20, 2018. 

Twelve days later, this Court affirmed Hardy’s convictions 

and sentence in an unpublished opinion dated October 2, 2018.  

Hardy filed a Motion for Reconsideration on October 12, 2018, 

citing Ramirez and asking the Court of Appeals to amend its 

Opinion and order that Hardy’s case be remanded to strike the 
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costs that are no longer authorized under HB 1783.2  Nearly five 

months later, the Court of Appeals denied Hardy’s motion for 

reconsideration without explanation.  

Like Ramirez, Hardy was sentenced before HB 1783 was 

enacted in 2018, and his case is still on direct appeal.  Like 

Ramirez, Hardy was subjected to LFOs that are no longer 

authorized under HB 1783.  Because HB 1783’s amendments are 

remedial and apply prospectively to cases pending on appeal, the 

amendments apply to Hardy’s case.  The Court of Appeals was 

obligated to provide the relief to which Hardy is entitled. 

The trial court imposed a $100.00 DNA collection fee.  (CP 

206)  But after HB 1783, RCW 43.43.7541 now provides: “Every 

sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 must 

include a fee of one hundred dollars unless the state has previously 

collected the offender’s DNA as a result of a prior conviction.”  See 

also Laws of 2018, ch. 269, § 18.  Hardy has a prior felony 

conviction, so DNA has previously been collected.  (CP 204)  See 

                                                 
2 Hardy also cited RAP 12.4(c) (a motion for reconsideration is appropriate if 
there are “points of law or fact which the moving party contends the court has 
overlooked or misapprehended”), RAP 18.8(a) (the court may “alter the 
provisions” of the appellate rules “in a particular case in order to serve the ends 
of justice”), and RAP 1.2(a) (the Rules of Appellate Procedure “will be liberally 
interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of a case on the merits”). 
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RCW 43.43.7541 (mandatory DNA fee upon felony conviction). 

The trial court imposed a $200.00 criminal filing fee.  (CP 

206)  But after HB 1783, RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) now provides: 

“Upon conviction or plea of guilty, . . . an adult defendant in a 

criminal case shall be liable for a fee of two hundred dollars, except 

this fee shall not be imposed on a defendant who is indigent as 

defined in RCW 10.101.010(3) (a) through (c).”  See also Laws of 

2018, ch. 269, § 17(2)(h).  Hardy was found indigent at sentencing.  

(CP 192-93; RP 976-77, 980) 

Finally, the Judgment and Sentence states that interest on 

all costs and fines shall begin accruing immediately.  (CP 207)  But 

House Bill 1783 eliminated interest accrual on all non-restitution 

portions of LFOs.  The section of HB 1783 pertaining to interest 

accrual amended RCW 10.82.090.  See Laws of 2018, ch. 269, § 1.  

That statute now provides, in relevant part, that “[a]s of June 7, 

2018, no interest shall accrue on nonrestitution legal financial 

obligations.”  RCW 10.82.090(1).   

 The Court of Appeals should have remanded Hardy’s case 

to the trial court so that it could amend the judgement and sentence 

to strike the improper fees and the interest accrual provision.  This 

Court should correct that mistake and order remand now. 
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B. COUNT FOUR MUST BE DISMISSED BECAUSE NONE OF THE 

ACTS OR ELEMENTS OF THIS OFFENSE OCCURRED IN PIERCE 

COUNTY. 
 
The Court of Appeals found that Hardy waived his right to 

challenge venue on appeal because he did not bring a specific 

motion to change venue at trial.  (Opinion at 9-11)  The Court of 

Appeals misunderstands the law regarding the constitutional right 

to venue and misunderstands a trial court’s responsibility to protect 

that right. 

The State charged Hardy with four counts of first degree 

rape of a child, all alleged to have occurred between December 12, 

2002 and December 11, 2008.  (CP 3-5, 185-87)  The probable 

cause declaration filed in conjunction with the Information alleged 

that Hardy would digitally penetrate E.E. with his finger two or three 

times a week during that time frame.  (CP 1)  The declaration also 

described the single “taste test” oral sex incident.  (CP 1)  The 

declaration concludes by saying during that time period, E.E. lived 

with her mother and Hardy “in Gig Harbor, University Place, 

Lakewood, and Federal Way.  The oral sex incident happened in 

Federal Way.”  (CP 1)  Neither the Information nor the declaration 

indicate a specific act associated with each of the four charged 

counts.  (CP 1-2, 3-5, 185-87) 
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Before trial, during a discussion about admitting evidence of 

other uncharged crimes or bad acts, defense counsel mentioned 

that the Federal Way “taste test” incident was likely admissible 

under ER 404(b), but could not be one of the acts relied upon for 

conviction because Federal Way is in King County, so Pierce 

County was not the proper venue.  (RP 473-74)  Defense counsel 

suggested that a jury instruction limiting the jury’s consideration of 

that act might be necessary.  (RP 473-74)  The prosecutor, 

however, argued that there was no venue problem and, even if 

there was, any motion to change venue was untimely and therefore 

waived.  (RP 487-88)  

After the State rested its case-in-chief, defense counsel 

again brought the venue issue to the court’s attention, and 

reiterated the need for a jury instruction.  (RP 683-84, 867)  

Defense counsel clarified that he had not and was not arguing for a 

change of venue or dismissal of any of the charges on the basis of 

improper venue, because the State had presented evidence of at 

least four different incidents of rape that all occurred in Pierce 

County.  (RP 683-84, 867)  Counsel was simply pointing out that 

the jury could not rely on the Federal Way “taste test” incident as 

the basis for one of the convictions.  (RP 683-84, 867) 
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The State again argued that any challenge to venue was 

untimely and waived, and that the State did not have to prove that 

any of the acts occurred in Pierce County.  (RP 864-65)  The court 

and parties tabled the issue, but did not revisit it.  (RP 867)   

During closing arguments, the prosecutor told the jury that 

“count four is based on the taste test game.  So when you all 

consider that, you all must unanimously agree on the taste test 

game for count four.”  (RP 887)  The jury instructions also 

instructed the jury that it must unanimously agree that this act 

occurred in order to convict Hardy of count four.  (RP 172)  Neither 

the court, the prosecutor nor the instructions told the jury that the 

offenses must have occurred in Pierce County.   

The Washington Constitution provides that the accused in a 

criminal case shall have the right not only to a speedy, public trial 

before an impartial jury, but that the jury be “of the county in which 

the offense is charged to have been committed.”  Wash. Const. art. 

1, § 22; see also State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 479, 869 P.2d 392 

(1994).  The right to proper venue is not an element of the crime 

but is instead a constitutional right.  Dent, 123 Wn.2d at 479.   

Additionally, CrR 5.1(a) provides that an action shall be 

commenced either “(1) In the county where the offense was 
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committed,” or “(2) In any county wherein an element of the offense 

was committed or occurred.”  CrR 5.1(a).  If there is reasonable 

doubt about where the offense occurred, the defendant “shall have 

the right to change venue to any other county in which the offense 

may have been committed.”  CrR 5.1(c); see also State v. Rockl, 

130 Wn. App. 293, 298, 122 P.3d 759 (2005).  

A defendant may raise the issue of venue for the first time 

during trial when the evidence introduced at trial raises a question 

of venue.  See Dent, 123 Wn.2d at 480.  In Dent, the Court held 

that, when a defendant demonstrates that there is not sufficient 

proof of venue at the close of the prosecution’s case, the court 

should allow the prosecution to “reopen” their case to present such 

evidence, unless the defendant makes a showing of actual 

prejudice.  123 Wn.2d at 480.  If, after such reopening (or if the 

prosecution chooses not to reopen), there remains a genuine issue 

of fact about venue, the issue should be submitted to the jury, 

because it “becomes a matter for resolution by the trier of fact.”  

123 Wn.2d at 480. 

In this case, even though E.E. testified that Hardy penetrated 

her with his finger at least eight times during the years that she 

lived in various Pierce County apartments (RP 603), the 
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prosecution elected to rely on the King County “taste test” incident 

as the act underlying count four.  (RP 887)  The State refused to 

acknowledge that venue is a constitutional right, and instead 

argued that the defense had waived the issue by failing to move 

before trial to dismiss count four.  (RP 487-88, 864-65)   

Division 2’s opinion in State v. Stearman, 187 Wn. App. 257, 

348 P.3d 394 (2015), is instructive.  There, the State charged 

Stearman in Pierce County with first degree trafficking in stolen 

property as an accomplice, possession of a stolen firearm as an 

accomplice, and conspiracy to traffic in stolen property.  187 Wn. 

App. at 261.  Before trial, Stearman moved for a change of venue 

to King County, arguing that none of the elements of the crimes 

occurred in Pierce County.  187 Wn. App. at 261.  The State gave 

an offer of proof, indicating that certain actions by Stearman’s co-

conspirators and accomplices occurred in Pierce County.  187 Wn. 

App. at 261-62.  The trial court denied Stearman’s motion, finding 

that there was no reasonable doubt that at least part of each 

charged offense occurred in Pierce County.  187 Wn. App. at 262. 

After the State rested, Stearman renewed his motion to 

change venue, arguing that the State had not produced any 

evidence at trial to show that any acts or elements of the crimes 
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occurred in Pierce County.  187 Wn. App. at 263-64.  The 

prosecutor argued that the venue motion was not timely, and the 

trial court declined to rule on the motion because the issue had 

already been ruled upon before trial.  187 Wn. App. at 264. 

The Stearman Court, relying on Dent, first noted that the trial 

court erred by refusing to rule on the renewed motion to change 

venue because “the trial court must allow the defendant to raise a 

venue issue at the close of the State’s case when evidence at trial 

raises a question of venue.”  187 Wn. App. at 269 (citing Dent, 123 

Wn.2d at 480).  And the trial court’s failure to rule on the motion 

was an abuse of discretion because the failure to exercise 

discretion or to make a necessary decision is an abuse of 

discretion.  187 Wn. App. at 264-65 (citing State v. Flieger, 91 Wn. 

App. 236, 242, 955 P.2d 872 (1998)); Stearman, 187 Wn. App. at 

265). 

The Court also rejected the State’s argument that Stearman 

waived his right to challenge the error by failing to offer a jury 

instruction on venue: 

Dent requires the trial court to submit the venue issue 
to the jury for resolution by a preponderance standard 
if it agrees that the defendant has raised a genuine 
issue of fact about venue at the close of evidence.  It 
does not specify that the defendant must provide a 
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jury instruction simultaneously, or else waives his 
challenge.   
 

Stearman, 187 Wn. App. at 272 (citation omitted). 

Finally, the Stearman Court rejected the State’s argument 

that any error was harmless.  The Court noted that “[v]enue in the 

proper county is a constitutional right,” and that “[t]he remedy for 

constitutional error is a new trial unless the error was harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt.”  187 Wn. App. at 271 (citing Dent, 123 

Wn.2d at 479, State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 

400 (2013)).  A procedural error regarding venue is harmless 

constitutional error when any reasonable jury would have found that 

the offense occurred in the county where it was tried.  187 Wn. 

App. at 271 (citing State v. McCorkell, 63 Wn. App. 798, 801, 822 

P.2d 795 (1992)).  As the Stearman Court explained: 

where the facts at trial clearly establish that venue 
was proper, a venue error may be harmless, because 
the defendant in fact was tried before a jury of the 
proper county.  In such cases, any jury would have 
found that venue was proper if the question were put 
to them because sufficient facts existed at trial to 
support venue.  But where no reasonable jury could 
have found that venue was proper by a 
preponderance of the evidence because no facts at 
trial established venue, this error cannot be harmless.  
That is, if we held that constitutional error about 
venue were harmless even where no facts supported 
venue in the county where trial occurred, the 
constitutional right to venue would lose all force.  
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187 Wn. App. at 272 (emphasis in original). 

 The Stearman Court concluded that, because no evidence 

supported venue in Pierce County, no reasonable jury could have 

found that Stearman committed his offenses in Pierce County by a 

preponderance standard.  187 Wn. App. at 273.  Accordingly, the 

error was not harmless.  187 Wn. App. at 273.  The Stearman 

Court reversed and dismissed the charges without prejudice.  187 

Wn. App. at 274.  

Stearman is distinguishable from this case, but the 

reasoning and analysis is still very much applicable.  There was an 

obvious venue problem if the State chose, as it did, to rely on the 

King County “taste test” incident as the factual basis for count four.  

Defense counsel brought this issue to the attention of the trial court 

at the close of evidence, and stated that the jury should be 

instructed that it must find that the acts relied upon for conviction 

occurred in Pierce County.  (RP 473-74, 863-64)  The trial court did 

nothing, and instead followed the State’s lead and instructed the 

jury to rely on the King County “taste test” incident for count four.  

(RP 887; CP 172)  And no evidence supported venue in Pierce 

County for the “taste test” incident.   
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 As in Stearman, no jury could have found that Hardy 

committed the “taste test” game in Pierce County, and the trial court 

abused its discretion by failing to act when necessary to protect 

Hardy’s constitutional right to venue.3  Hardy’s constitutional right to 

venue was clearly violated, and the error was not harmless.  

Hardy’s conviction on count four must be reversed and dismissed. 

C. PRO SE ISSUES 

 In his pro se Statement of Additional Grounds for Review, 

Hardy argued that (1) the trial court violated his constitutional right 

to a fair and impartial jury, (2) the State engaged in prosecutorial 

misconduct by appealing to the passions and prejudice of the jury, 

(3) his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State’s 

questioning and closing argument, (4) he was prejudiced by the 

cumulative errors at trial, and (5) his offender score should have 

been zero because his four convictions were for the same criminal 

conduct.  The arguments and authorities pertaining to these issues 

are contained in Hardy’s Statement of Additional Grounds, which is 

                                                 
3 The Court of Appeals incorrectly states in a footnote that Hardy did not provide 
any argument relating to his assertion that the trial court erred in not taking action 
when required and instructing the jury on venue.  (Opinion at 11 fn. 6) This 
statement is incorrect because Hardy cited case law holding that a trial court has 
an obligation to act to protect a defendant’s right to venue and argued that the 
trial court abused its discretion by failing to act in this case.  (Opening Brief of 
Appellant at 14, 16) 
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hereby incorporated by reference.  The Court of Appeals found that 

these challenges are without merit.  (Opinion at 11-12)  This Court 

should review these pro se issue as well. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

 This Court should accept review, and reverse and dismiss 

count four.  Alternatively, Hardy’s case should be remanded to the 

trial court to amend the Judgement and Sentence to strike cost 

provisions that are no longer authorized after enactment of House 

Bill 1783. 

   DATED: March 4, 2019 

      
   STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM, WSB #26436 
   Attorney for Petitioner Richard J. Hardy 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 
I certify that on 03/04/2019, I caused to be placed in the 
mails of the United States, first class postage pre-paid, a 
copy of this document addressed to: Richard J. Hardy, 
DOC# 896811, Stafford Creek Corrections Center, 191 
Constantine Way, Aberdeen, WA 98520. 

   
STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM, WSBA #26436 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 
Court of Appeals Opinion and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration 

State v. Richard Jack Hardy, No. 50497-9-II 



 

 

 

 
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 

DIVISION  II 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No.  50497-9-II 

  

    Respondent,  

  

 v.  

  

RICHARD J. HARDY, UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

  

    Appellant.  

 

Lee, J. — Richard J. Hardy appeals his jury conviction for four counts of first degree child 

rape involving his former girlfriend’s daughter E.E.1  Hardy argues that (1) he was denied his 

constitutional right to venue because one of the counts occurred in King County, not Pierce 

County, (2) the evidence was insufficient to support separate and distinct acts of sexual abuse, and 

(3) the trial court abused its discretion in admitting E.E.’s testimony regarding Hardy’s prior acts 

of domestic violence against her and her mother. 

In a statement of additional grounds, Hardy asks us to review whether (1) the trial court 

violated his constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury, (2) the State engaged in prosecutorial 

misconduct by appealing to the passions and prejudice of the jury, (3) his counsel was ineffective 

for failing to object to the State’s questioning and closing argument, (4) he was prejudiced by the 

                                                 
1 Pursuant to this court’s General Order 2011-1, this court uses initials for child witnesses in sex 

crimes.    
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cumulative errors at trial, and (5) his offender score should have been zero because his four 

convictions were for the same criminal conduct.   

We affirm. 

FACTS 

 

A. THE ABUSE 

 E.E. was born in 1996.  Her parents, Melissa and James,2 divorced approximately three and 

a half years later.  Following the divorce, E.E. lived with Melissa and visited James every other 

weekend.   

 When E.E. was four and a half years old, Melissa began dating Hardy.  One month later, 

Hardy moved into the apartment Melissa shared with E.E.  E.E. lived with Melissa and Hardy for 

the next four years in several apartments in Pierce County and in one apartment in King County.   

 One night, when E.E. was six years old, Hardy entered E.E.’s bedroom, ripped a hole in 

her underwear, and touched her vagina with his fingers.  Hardy regularly touched E.E. in this 

manner for the next six years.  Approximately three to four times per month, Hardy entered E.E.’s 

bedroom as she slept, paced around her bedroom, stood at the edge of her bed, and removed her 

covers.  He then ripped a hole in her underwear and touched her vaginal area with his fingers.  On 

seven or eight separate occasions, Hardy also inserted his finger into E.E.’s vagina.  All of these 

incidents occurred in Pierce County. 

                                                 
2 We refer to E.E.’s parents and stepmother by their first names to protect E.E.’s privacy.  We 

intend no disrespect. 
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 On one occasion, when E.E. was seven and a half years old, Hardy watched E.E. while her 

mother was at work.  Hardy played a game with E.E. in which he blindfolded her, put different 

flavors of food into her mouth, and asked her to guess what the flavors were.  After first placing 

cough syrup into E.E.’s mouth, Hardy then inserted his penis into E.E.’s mouth and moved it 

around.  E.E. recognized Hardy’s penis by its smell and texture.  This incident occurred in King 

County. 

B. THE DISCLOSURES 

 E.E. first told Melissa about Hardy’s abuse when she was seven years old.  Melissa 

responded by telling E.E. that she was “f***ing lying.”  5 Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) 

(Feb. 28, 2017) at 635.  E.E. attempted to discuss the abuse with Melissa multiple times between 

the ages of 14 and 18.  These attempts always led to an argument between E.E. and Melissa.  

Melissa never contacted law enforcement about E.E.’s allegations.   

 When E.E. was 18 years old, she told her sister-in-law that Hardy had molested her.  E.E.’s 

sister-in-law responded by saying that she was sad for E.E., but she did not contact law 

enforcement.  Approximately a month later, E.E. told her stepmother Jessica that Hardy had 

molested her.  Jessica notified James, and the next day, Jessica and James brought E.E. to the 

police station to file a police report.    
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 The State charged Hardy with four counts of first degree rape of a child3 committed 

between December 12, 2002 and December 11, 2008.  The State also alleged an aggravating 

circumstance on each count that Hardy used his position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary 

responsibility in the commission of the crimes.4  The State’s declaration for determination of 

probable cause supporting the charges stated that the oral sex incident occurred in King County. 

C. RELEVANT PORTIONS OF TRIAL 

 1. Jury Selection 

 As part of jury selection, the trial court instructed the jury venire to answer a series of 

questions in a written juror questionnaire.  The individual responses to the questionnaire were 

sealed.  In the course of assessing the juror responses, the trial court observed that one of the 

potential jurors failed to fill out one of the pages of the questionnaire.  As a result, the trial court 

allowed the parties to ask the juror the questions he or she forgot to answer outside the presence 

of the entire jury venire.  One of the questions was whether the juror knew the trial court judge, 

her judicial assistant, the court reporter, the deputy prosecuting attorneys, or the defense attorney.  

Another question listed all potential witnesses in the case and asked the juror to indicate whether 

he or she recognized any of them. 

                                                 
3 “A person is guilty of rape of a child in the first degree when the person has sexual intercourse 

with another who is less than twelve years old and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator 

is at least twenty-four months older than the victim.”  RCW 9A.44.073(1).  Sexual intercourse 

“occurs upon any penetration, however slight.”  RCW 9A.44.010(1)(a). 

 
4 Under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n), the jury may consider as an aggravating circumstance whether the 

“defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the 

commission of the current offense.” 
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 After the jury was selected and empaneled, the trial court instructed the jury that “[i]t’s 

essential to a fair trial that everything you learn about the case comes to you in this courtroom and 

only in this courtroom.”  3 VRP (Feb. 23, 2017) at 431.  The court further instructed, “You must 

keep your mind free of outside influences so that your decision will be based entirely on the 

evidence presented during the trial and on my instructions to you about the law.”  3 VRP (Feb. 23, 

2017) at 431. 

 2. Venue Issue 

 After the jury was empaneled, the trial court addressed the State’s motion to admit evidence 

of Hardy’s 1993 child rape conviction.  The State argued that the circumstances of that crime were 

very similar to that involving E.E., and therefore, the 1993 conviction should be admitted under 

ER 404(b) to show common scheme or plan.  In response, Hardy argued that the circumstances 

involving E.E. were markedly different than the 1993 case and could not be admitted as evidence 

of a common scheme or plan.  Hardy also remarked:  

She—it’s alleged she was asleep in her room, and she repeated this over and over.  

This is how it happened every single time other than one incident in Federal Way. 

 

 We don’t have to deal with that.  Because of venue issues, that can’t be the 

subject of conviction in this case.  We’re going to have to get some kind of an 

instruction to limit that, but it can be admitted for—with the Court’s call—under 

State v. Ferguson, lustful disposition. 

 

 So, I mean, the acts can come in in this case, but it can’t be the basis of a 

conviction because it’s a—venue.  We don’t have venue here.  And we’re not 

stipulating to venue.  It’s a King County act.  If King County wants to bring it up, 

that’s their business.  It can’t be the basis of a conviction here.  It’s venue. 

 

4 VRP (Feb. 27, 2017) at 474.   
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 In response, the State argued “this is the first time I’ve ever heard a venue argument raised 

here on the fifth—fourth or fifth day of trial, after we’ve already picked a jury and jeopardy has 

attached.  This is the first time I’ve heard defense raise any sort of claim about venue.”  4 VRP 

(Feb. 27, 2017) at 487.  The State further argued that any objection to venue at this point was 

untimely because the State had been clear in discovery and in its trial briefing that it would be 

relying on the King County oral sex incident as the basis of one of the charges.  

 The trial court denied the State’s motion to admit evidence of Hardy’s 1993 child rape 

conviction, ruling that there were not substantial similarities between the 1993 case and the case 

involving E.E.  The trial court did not address Hardy’s earlier remarks regarding venue.   

 Hardy never filed a motion to challenge venue.  Instead, after both parties rested their case 

in chief, Hardy told the trial court: 

And then I’ve got a—you know, I’ve got that dilemma with the King County 

incident. 

 

. . . .  

 

. . . I got to figure out an instruction to deal with it.  You know, I couldn’t 

bring a venue motion because there’s so many alleged acts here that occurred in 

Pierce County, and under the Petrich instruction, they only need one act per case.  

So I couldn’t say, “Well, Judge, you know, I’m going to bring a motion”—I knew 

this when this case started.  I want count one moved or dismissed because of venue 

because I can’t.  Yet we have an act in King County that isn’t in proper venue that 

the jury might rely on to convict on one of these counts.  I got to deal with it.   

 

6 VRP (Mar. 1, 2017) at 863-64.   

 

 Hardy later informed the trial court, “I am not bringing a venue motion.  I’m not asking 

that it be dismissed for venue.  I never thought it could be.”  6 VRP (Mar. 1, 2017) at 866.  Hardy 

also stated, “I had never intended to bring a venue motion, but I have this problem with this King 
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County thing floating around out there not knowing if the jury is going to rely on it or not.  So I 

wanted to propose at least an instruction to deal with it.”  6 VRP (Mar. 1, 2017) at 866.  Hardy 

never proposed such instruction. 

 3. Trial Testimony 

 At trial, E.E. testified to the facts discussed above.  E.E. also testified that Hardy regularly 

touched her in this manner between December 12, 2002 and December 11, 2008, and that the 

contact ended just before she turned 12 years old.  E.E. also recalled that during the incidents, 

Hardy kept the lights off in her bedroom, touched her with one hand, and did not speak to her 

during or after.   

 During direct examination, the State questioned E.E. as to why she never told anyone about 

the Federal Way incident.  E.E. responded that she was scared.  Outside the presence of the jury, 

the State asked E.E. why she was scared of Hardy.  E.E. explained that she had witnessed Hardy 

physically abuse Melissa, threaten to kill Melissa, and once held a knife to Melissa’s throat.  E.E. 

also testified that Hardy began hitting her with the metal parts of his belt at the age of five, which 

sometimes left welts on her back.   

 Hardy objected to this testimony under ER 404(b) and ER 403, arguing that the testimony 

regarding Hardy’s physical abuse of E.E. and Melissa was highly prejudicial.  He also argued that 

the State could not offer such testimony unless Hardy first made an issue of E.E.’s delayed 

disclosure.  The State argued that E.E.’s testimony regarding Hardy’s physical abuse was 

admissible to explain why E.E. was afraid of Hardy.  This fear was relevant in that it explained 

E.E.’s reluctance to report Hardy’s sexual abuse of her.   
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 Before ruling on Hardy’s objection, the trial court reviewed the transcript of the opening 

statements.  During opening statement, Hardy told the jury that they would learn throughout the 

case why E.E. targeted Hardy with false allegations “and why they arose at the time that they did.”  

4 VRP (Feb. 27, 2017) at 530-31.  Hardy continued, “The evidence will show, though, as [E.E.]’s 

old enough now to understand what it takes to get him out of the picture, to get what she wants, 

get him out of the way, and executed a plan to do just that.”  4 VRP (Feb. 27, 2017) at 531.  After 

reviewing the transcript of the opening statements, the trial court ruled that Hardy had raised the 

issue of E.E.’s delay in reporting the sexual abuse, and therefore, the testimony was admissible.5 

 4. Jury Instruction and Verdict 

 The trial court included a unanimity instruction in the jury instructions.  Instruction 23 

instructed the jury that to convict Hardy on counts I, II, and III, which were based on the recurring 

sexual abuse of E.E. in Pierce County, “one particular act of Rape of a Child in the First Degree 

must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt for each count, and you must unanimously agree as to 

which act has been proved.”  Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 171.  Instruction 17 instructed the jury that 

count IV was based on “a time separate and distinct from Counts I, II, or III.”  CP at 165.  

Instruction 24 instructed the jury that regarding Count IV, “the State relies upon evidence 

regarding a single act constituting the alleged crime” and that to convict, the jury needed to 

unanimously agree “that this specific act was proved.”  CP at 172.  In closing, the State argued 

that count IV was based on the King County oral sex incident.  Hardy did not object to Instruction 

17 or 24. 

                                                 
5 The trial court also gave the jury a limiting instruction for this evidence. 
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 The jury found Hardy guilty as charged.  Hardy appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

 

A. VENUE  

 Hardy argues that his conviction based on the oral sex incident with E.E. violated his rights 

under article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution because that incident occurred in 

King County.  He also contends that the trial court abused its discretion by “failing to act when 

necessary to protect Hardy’s constitutional right to venue.”  Br. of Appellant at 16.  We disagree. 

1. Standard of Review 

 We review a trial court’s ruling on a motion to change venue for an abuse of discretion.  

State v. Stearman, 187 Wn. App. 257, 264, 348 P.3d 394 (2015).  A trial court abuses its discretion 

when its ruling is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons or grounds.  Id. at 264-

265.  A trial court also abuses its discretion by failing to exercise its discretion, such as by failing 

to render a necessary decision.  Id. at 265. 

2. Hardy Waived his Right to Challenge Venue 

 Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the 

right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury “of the county in which the offense is charged 

to have been committed.”  CrR 5.1(a) also governs venue decisions and provides that an action 

shall be commenced either “(1) [i]n the county where the offense was committed;” or “(2) [i]n any 

county wherein an element of the offense was committed or occurred.”   

 Proper venue is not an element of a charged crime.  State v. Rockl, 130 Wn. App. 293, 297, 

122 P.3d 759 (2005).  “Rather, it is a constitutional right that is waived if not asserted in a timely 
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fashion.”  Id.  If there is reasonable doubt whether an offense has been committed in one of two or 

more counties, then “the action may be commenced in any such county.”  CrR 5.1(b).  In this 

situation, the defendant has the right to change venue to any other county in which the offense may 

have been committed.  CrR 5.1(c).  However, “[a]ny objection to venue must be made as soon 

after the initial pleading is filed as the defendant has knowledge upon which to make it.”  CrR 

5.1(c).   

 Absent facts that compel application of CrR 5.1, the defendant must raise a venue challenge 

at the omnibus hearing.  State v. Dent, 123 Wn.2d 467, 480, 869 P.2d 392 (1994).  “Failure to raise 

or give notice at the hearing of any error or issue of which the party concerned has knowledge may 

constitute waiver of such error or issue.”  CrR 4.5(d).  Unless the defendant shows good cause for 

failing to raise the venue issue at the omnibus hearing, the failure to do so constitutes waiver.  Dent, 

123 Wn.2d at 480. 

 Here, Hardy never challenged venue by moving to dismiss or by bringing a motion to 

change venue.  Instead, after the jury was empaneled, Hardy commented that the King County oral 

sex incident could not be the subject of a conviction in this case “[b]ecause of venue issues.”  4 

VRP (Feb. 27, 2017) at 474.  He made this comment while arguing against the State’s motion to 

introduce evidence of his 1993 child rape conviction.  Despite this comment, Hardy never sought 

to change venue for the charge arising from the King County incident. 

 Not only did Hardy not challenge venue, he explicitly told the trial court that he was “not 

bringing a venue motion.”  6 VRP (Mar. 1, 2017) at 866.  He informed the trial court that instead 
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he might propose a limiting instruction on the issue, but then never proposed such instruction.  

Thus, Hardy waived his challenge to venue.   

 Even though Hardy never actually challenged venue, he argues that his conviction on count 

IV should be dismissed based on “the reasoning and analysis” of our decision in Stearman.  Br. of 

Appellant at 16.  However, even Hardy acknowledges that Stearman is “factually and procedurally 

distinguishable from this case.”  Br. of Appellant at 16.  

 In Stearman, we held that the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to consider the 

defendant’s renewed motion to change venue at the close of the State’s evidence because the 

evidence at trial raised a venue issue.  187 Wn. App. at 269.  Unlike in Stearman, Hardy never 

made a motion to change venue, nor did he renew a motion to change venue.  In fact, he specifically 

told the trial court that he was “not bringing a venue motion,” “not asking that [the case] be 

dismissed for venue,” and that he “never intended to bring a venue motion.”  6 VRP (Mar. 1, 2017) 

at 866.  Therefore, it was not manifestly unreasonable for the trial court to not rule on a motion 

that Hardy never made.  We hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion, and Hardy’s 

challenge to venue fails.6 

B. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE—MULTIPLE INCIDENTS  

 Hardy argues that the State presented insufficient evidence for the jury to convict him on 

the first three counts of first degree child molestation because E.E.’s generic testimony that formed 

                                                 
6 Hardy also assigns error to the trial court’s failure to instruct the jury that it must find by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the offenses occurred in Pierce County.  Because Hardy 

provides no argument on this assignment of error, we decline to consider it.  See RAP 10.3(a)(6). 
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the basis of counts I, II, and III failed to sufficiently describe three distinct acts of first degree child 

rape.  We disagree. 

 1. Standard of Review 

 We review a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence de novo.  State v. Berg, 181 Wn.2d 

857, 867, 337 P.3d 310 (2014).  “The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is 

whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of 

fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”  State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 

829 P.2d 1068 (1992).  A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State’s 

evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from that evidence.  Id.  Direct and 

circumstantial evidence are equally reliable.  State v. Ozuna, 184 Wn.2d 238, 248, 359 P.3d 739 

(2015). 

 2. E.E.’s Testimony Sufficiently Described Specific and Distinct Acts of Abuse 

a. Legal principles 

 Where the State alleges multiple acts, any one of which could meet the requirements of the 

charged crime, the State need not elect which specific act the jury must rely on in order to convict.  

State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425, 430-31, 914 P.2d 788, review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1013 (1996).  

If the State chooses not to elect, the trial court must “instruct the jury that all of them must agree 

that the same underlying criminal act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.”  State v. 

Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).  And in cases of sexual abuse where multiple 

counts are alleged to have occurred within the same charging period, the State’s evidence must 
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clearly delineate specific and distinct acts that occurred during the charging period.  Hayes, 81 

Wn. App. at 431. 

 We employ a three-prong test to determine whether an alleged victim’s generic testimony 

about a course of sexual abuse sufficiently describes specific and distinct incidents of abuse in 

order to support a conviction.  State v. Edwards, 171 Wn. App. 379, 402, 294 P.3d 708 (2012).  

The alleged victim must: (1) describe the act or acts with sufficient specificity to allow the fact 

finder to determine which offense, if any, has been committed, (2) describe the number of acts 

with sufficient certainty to support each of the counts the State alleged, and (3) describe the general 

time period in which the acts occurred.  Hayes, 81 Wn. App. at 438.  This test balances a 

defendant’s due process rights with a child victim’s inability to provide extensive details about 

recurring instances of sexual abuse.  Id. 

 In Hayes, the child victim described how the defendant would  place himself on top of her 

in his bedroom and testified that the defendant had “ ‘put his private part in mine.’ ”  Id.  The 

Hayes court held that this testimony satisfied the first prong of the test.  Id.  Next, the Hayes court 

held that the victim’s testimony that Hayes did this at least “ ‘four times’ ” and up to “ ‘two or 

three times a week’ ” satisfied the second prong of the test.  Id. at 439  And finally, the child’s 

testimony that the incidents occurred during the charging period satisfied the third prong.  Id. 

b. Sufficient evidence presented 

 Here, because the State chose not to elect which specific acts were associated with counts 

I, II, and III, the trial court was required to instruct the jury as to unanimity.  Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 

at 411.  Jury instruction 23 stated that to convict Hardy on counts I, II, and III, “one particular act 
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of Rape of a Child in the First Degree must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt for each count, 

and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved.”  CP at 171.  Thus, the trial 

court properly instructed the jury that they must be unanimous as to what specific act constitutes 

the count charged. 

 As to the Hayes test, E.E. testified that Hardy first touched her vagina when she was six 

years old.  E.E. described Hardy entering her bedroom as she slept, ripping a hole in her underwear, 

and then touching her vagina with his fingers.  E.E. testified that Hardy regularly touched her in 

this manner between December 12, 2002 and December 11, 2008, and that the contact ended just 

before she turned 12 years old.  She stated that three to four times per month, Hardy paced around 

her bedroom, removed her covers, and then ripped a hole in her underwear.  On seven or eight 

separate occasions, Hardy inserted his finger into E.E.’s vagina.  E.E. recalled that Hardy kept the 

lights off in the bedroom, used one hand to touch her, and did not speak to her during or after.  

E.E.’s testimony was similar in quality to that of Hayes and described the acts with sufficient 

specificity to satisfy the first prong of the Hayes test. 

 E.E. also described the number of acts with sufficient certainty to support each of the 

alleged accounts.  As in Hayes, E.E. did not testify to a specific number of incidents, but instead 

estimated that Hardy inserted his finger into her vagina on seven or eight different occasions.  Thus, 

E.E. described the number of acts with sufficient certainty to support each of the alleged counts, 

and her testimony satisfied the second prong of the Hayes test. 
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 Finally, E.E. testified that the acts occurred between December 12, 2002 and December 

11, 2008.  The first incident occurred after E.E.’s sixth birthday and the last occurred when she 

was approximately 12 years old.  Thus, E.E. described the general time period in which the abuse 

occurred, and her testimony satisfied the third prong of the Hayes test.   

 Hardy relies on Edwards to argue that E.E.’s testimony failed to describe the number of 

acts of sexual intercourse with sufficient certainty because “E.E. did not provide any distinguishing 

facts, such as different actions, locations, or timeframes.”  Br. of Appellant at 21.  However, the 

Edwards court never held that a child victim must provide “distinguishing facts,” such as different 

acts, locations, or timeframes in order to comply with the Hayes test.  See 171 Wn. App. at 403.  

Instead, the Edwards court upheld the trial court’s dismissal of one of the child molestation counts 

because the State failed to offer any evidence “defining the time period in which any other act 

occurred.”  Id.  Thus, the evidence failed to “clearly delineate between specific and distinct 

incidents of sexual abuse during the charging period.”  Id.   

 Conversely, here, the State offered evidence that the seven or eight different acts of sexual 

intercourse occurred between December 12, 2002 and December 11, 2008, when E.E. was between 

the ages of six and 12 years old.  As a result, the evidence clearly delineated between specific and 

distinct acts of sexual abuse during the charging period and E.E.’s testimony satisfied the third 

prong of the Hayes test.   

Viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact 

could have found that Hardy committed three separate acts of first degree child rape between 

December 12, 2002 and December 11, 2008.  Therefore, we hold that E.E.’s testimony sufficiently 
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described three separate and distinct acts of rape to support Hardy’s conviction on counts I, II, and 

III. 

C. ER 404(b) EVIDENCE 

 Hardy argues that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of Hardy’s past 

physical abuse of Melissa and E.E. in order to show why E.E. delayed in reporting the abuse.  

Hardy contends that this evidence could not be used to explain E.E.’s delay in reporting Hardy’s 

sexual abuse because (1) E.E. told her mother about the sexual abuse months after it occurred, (2) 

Hardy never raised the issue of delayed disclosure, and (3) this evidence “was not necessary” 

because E.E. offered other plausible explanations to explain her reporting delay.  Br. of Appellant 

at 24.  We disagree. 

 1. Standard of Review 

 We review the trial court’s interpretation of ER 404(b) de novo.  State v. Foxhoven, 161 

Wn.2d 168, 174, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).  If the trial court correctly interpreted ER 404(b), then we 

review the trial court’s ruling to admit or exclude evidence of misconduct for an abuse of 

discretion.  Id.  A trial court abuses its discretion if it admits evidence contrary to law, or when its 

decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.  State v. Quaale, 

182 Wn.2d 191, 196-97, 340 P.3d 213 (2014). 

 2. The Trial Court did not Abuse its Discretion 

 Evidence of a defendant’s prior misconduct is generally not admissible to demonstrate the 

accused’s propensity to commit the crime charged.  State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 744, 202 P.3d 
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937 (2009); ER 404(b).  However, ER 404(b) allows for the introduction of evidence of prior 

misconduct for other purposes, such as showing motive or intent.  Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 744.   

 We read ER 404(b) in conjunction with ER 403, which requires the trial court to exercise 

its discretion in excluding relevant evidence that would unfairly prejudice the accused.  Id. at 745.  

Prior to admitting misconduct evidence, the trial court must (1) find by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the misconduct actually occurred, (2) identify the purpose of admitting the evidence, 

(3) determine the relevance of the evidence in proving an element of the crime, and (4) weigh the 

probative value of such evidence against its prejudicial effect.  Id. 

 Relying on Fisher, Hardy argues that the State could only introduce evidence of Hardy’s 

prior physical abuse if Hardy first made an issue of E.E.’s delayed disclosure.  Such argument 

misunderstands the holding in Fisher.   

 In Fisher, the defendant was charged with molesting his stepdaughter.  165 Wn.2d at 733.  

The trial court allowed the State to introduce ER 404(b) evidence of the defendant’s prior physical 

abuse of his son and stepchildren to explain the victim’s delayed reporting.  Id. at 734.  The trial 

court ruled that the evidence was only admissible if the defense first raised the issue of delayed 

reporting.  Id.  Our Supreme Court held that the trial court’s ruling was proper and concluded that 

the ruling made sense, as the physical abuse only became relevant if the defense made an issue of 

the victim’s delayed reporting.  Id. at 746.  The Fisher court never held that a trial court must 

condition ER 404(b) evidence on the defense first broaching certain topics at trial, only that it 

made sense for the trial court to do so in that case.   



No.  504979-II 

 

 

 

18 

 Also, even if Fisher stood for the proposition Hardy claims, Hardy raised the issue of when 

E.E. disclosed the abuse during opening statement when he told the jury that they would learn 

throughout trial why E.E.’s false allegations “arose at the time that they did.”  4 VRP (Feb. 27, 

2017) at 530-31.  He further informed the jury, “The evidence will show, though, as [E.E.]’s old 

enough now to understand what it takes to get him out of the picture, to get what she wants, get 

him out of the way, and executed a plan to do just that.”  4 VRP (Feb. 27, 2017) at 531.  Thus, 

Hardy made the timing of E.E.’s disclosure an issue at trial and it was not manifestly unreasonable 

for the trial court to allow evidence of Hardy’s prior physical abuse in order to show why E.E. 

feared Hardy and delayed in reporting the ongoing sexual abuse. 

 Hardy also argues that the trial court abused its discretion because (1) E.E. told her mother 

about the abuse “just months” after the alleged incident, so there was no delay, and (2) even if 

there was a delay, E.E. provided several other “plausible explanations” as to why she waited to 

report the sexual abuse to the police.  Br. of Appellant at 22, 24.  Contrary to Hardy’s assertion, 

several months still constitutes a time lapse between when an abusive incident occurred and when 

the child actually reported the abuse.  And a child victim may have more than one reason to not 

immediately come forward with allegations of sexual abuse.  Hardy cites to no authority holding 

that a child victim may only provide one “plausible explanation” to explain why he or she waited 

to report recurring acts of sexual abuse.  Accordingly, we reject these arguments and hold that the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting evidence of prior misconduct under ER 404(b).  
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D. STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS  

 Hardy also raises several challenges in a statement of additional grounds.  We hold that 

each of these challenges are without merit. 

 1. Constitutional Right to a Fair and Impartial Jury 

 Hardy argues that trial court’s voir dire process failed to protect his constitutional right to 

an impartial jury.  We disagree. 

 We review constitutional issues de novo.  State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 150, 312 

P.3d 960 (2013).  The Sixth Amendment to the federal constitution and article I, section 22 of the 

Washington State Constitution guarantee a defendant the right to an impartial jury.  State v. Yates, 

161 Wn.2d 714, 742, 168 P.3d 359 (2007), cert. denied, 554 U.S. 922 (2008).  “The ‘impartial 

jury’ aspect of article I, section 22 focuses on the defendant’s right to have unbiased jurors, whose 

prior knowledge of the case or prejudice does not taint the entire venire and render the defendant’s 

trial unfair.”  State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 152, 217 P.3d 321 (2009), cert. denied, 562 U.S. 

837 (2010).  Voir dire is a significant aspect of trial because it allows parties to safeguard their 

article I, section 22 right to a fair and impartial fact finder through jury questioning.  Id. 

 Hardy argues that the trial court violated his constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury 

by failing to ask the jury venire whether they knew any of the parties involved in the case.  

However, the record shows that the trial court did ask these questions to the jury venire through 

the juror questionnaire.  The juror questionnaire was not designated in the appellate record and the 

individual responses are sealed, but the record shows that one of the potential jurors failed to fill 

out a page of the questionnaire.  As a result, the trial court questioned the potential juror outside 
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the presence of the rest of the jury venire and allowed the attorneys to ask the questions the 

potential juror forgot to fill out.  One of the questions was whether the juror knew the trial court 

judge, her judicial assistant, the court reporter, the deputy prosecuting attorneys, or the defense 

attorney.  Next, the potential juror was given the names of the potential witnesses in the case and 

asked to indicate whether he or she recognized any of them.  Thus, the record shows that the trial 

court did ask the jury venire whether they knew any of the parties involved in the case through the 

juror questionnaire.  

 Next, Hardy argues that the trial court violated his right to a fair and impartial jury because 

the trial court delayed in admonishing the jury to not conduct outside research on the case.  

However, the record shows that the trial court instructed the jury that they must learn everything 

about this case through the evidence at trial immediately after the jury was empaneled.  The trial 

court also read to the empaneled jury a series of instructions including that “[i]t’s essential to a fair 

trial that everything you learn about the case comes to you in this courtroom and only in this 

courtroom.”  3 VRP (Feb. 23, 2017) at 431.  The court further instructed, “You must keep your 

mind free of outside influences so that your decision will be based entirely on the evidence 

presented during the trial and on my instructions to you about the law.”  3 VRP (Feb. 23, 2017) at 

431.  Thus, the trial court safeguarded Hardy’s right to a fair and impartial jury after they were 

empaneled and before either side had presented any evidence.  Accordingly, we hold that Hardy’s 

challenge fails. 
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 2. Prosecutorial Misconduct   

 Hardy argues that the prosecutor improperly appealed to the passions and prejudice of the 

jury by eliciting testimony related to his minor daughter and by referencing his daughter during 

opening statement.  We disagree. 

 To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must show “ ‘that the 

prosecutor’s conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and the 

circumstances at trial.’ ”  State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (quoting 

State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 191, 189 P.3d 126 (2008)).  We review allegedly improper 

arguments of the prosecutor in the context of the total argument, the evidence addressed during 

argument, the issues in the case, and the trial court’s instructions.  State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 

85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129 (1995).   

 It is improper for a prosecutor to “ ‘use arguments calculated to inflame the passions or 

prejudices of the jury.’ ”  State v. Thierry, 190 Wn. App. 680, 690, 360 P.3d 940 (2015) (quoting 

In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)), review denied, 185 

Wn.2d 1015 (2016).  For example, in Thierry, we held that a prosecutor improperly appealed to 

the passions and prejudice of the jury by stating that if the defendant’s argument had any merit, 

then the State might as well give up prosecuting child sex abuse cases.  Id. at 690-91.  Similarly, 

in State v. Powell, the court held that the defendant was denied a fair trial when the prosecutor 

argued to the jury that a not guilty verdict would be “ ‘declaring open season on children.’ ”  62 

Wn. App. 914, 918, 816 P.2d 86 (1991), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992). 
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 Hardy argues that the prosecutor here similarly appealed to the passion and prejudice of 

the jury by referencing E.E.’s testimony related to Hardy’s five year old daughter.  However, such 

comments were not improper when viewed in the context of the entire record and the 

circumstances at trial.  The trial court granted the State’s motion to elicit E.E.’s testimony that she 

came forward with her allegations partially out of fear for Hardy’s daughter’s safety.  Because the 

trial court explicitly ruled the testimony admissible for this limited purpose, it was not improper 

for the State to make an argument related to that limited purpose.  And contrary to Hardy’s 

contention, the State never argued to the jury that they should convict Hardy in order to protect his 

five year old daughter.  The State solely used this evidence to argue why E.E. came forward with 

the sexual abuse allegations at the time she did.  Thus, the State did not appeal to the passions and 

prejudice of the jury, and Hardy’s argument on this basis fails. 

 Hardy also argues that it was improper for the prosecutor to reference his daughter during 

opening statement.  However, Hardy does not challenge the trial court’s ruling allowing E.E. to 

subsequently testify that she came forward with her allegations out of fear for Hardy’s daughter’s 

safety.  To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, Hardy must show “ ‘that the 

prosecutor’s conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and the 

circumstances at trial.’ ”  Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 442 (quoting Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 191).  

Therefore, even assuming without deciding that it was improper for the prosecutor to reference 

this evidence before the trial court ruled on its admissibility, Hardy fails to show prejudice because 

the trial court later ruled this evidence admissible and Hardy does not challenge this ruling.  Thus, 

Hardy’s prosecutorial misconduct claim fails. 
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 3. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

 Hardy argues that his defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State’s 

references to his daughter during opening statement, trial, and closing argument.  We disagree. 

 The right to effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution.  State v. Grier, 

171 Wn.2d 17, 32, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 153 (2014).  To prevail in an 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must show (1) defense counsel’s 

performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance resulted in prejudice.  Id. at 32-33.  

Showing counsel’s performance was deficient “ ‘requires showing that counsel made errors so 

serious that counsel was not functioning as the “counsel” guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth 

Amendment.’ ”  Id. at 32-33 (quoting State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)).  

In order to establish prejudice, the defendant must show that, but for counsel’s deficient 

performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.  State v. Gerdts, 136 Wn. 

App. 720, 726-27, 150 P.3d 627 (2007).  Thus, in order to establish deficient performance for 

counsel’s failure to object, the defendant must show that the objection would likely have been 

successful.  Id. at 727.     

 Here, Hardy’s trial counsel objected to the State’s line of questioning related to Hardy’s 

daughter during trial, but the trial court overruled the objection.  Therefore, Hardy fails to show 

that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony.  And given that the trial court 

ruled the testimony admissible over defense objection, Hardy cannot show that continuing to 
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object to this evidence would likely have been successful.  Because Hardy fails to show that the 

outcome of the proceeding would have differed, he fails to show resulting prejudice.   

 Hardy also argues that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor’s 

statements related to his daughter during the State’s opening statement.  Assuming without 

deciding that the State’s comments were improper, Hardy’s ineffective assistance of counsel claim 

on this basis fails because Hardy fails to show resulting prejudice.   

 Again, in order to establish prejudice, Hardy must show that, but for counsel’s deficient 

performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different.  Gerdts, 136 Wn. App. at 

726-27.  However, as discussed above, Hardy does not challenge the trial court’s ruling allowing 

E.E. to subsequently testify that she reported Hardy’s abuse out of fear for his daughter’s safety.  

Therefore even if Hardy’s counsel had objected to these references during opening statement, the 

outcome of the proceeding would not have differed because the trial court later allowed this 

testimony over defense objection.  Accordingly, we hold that Hardy’s ineffective assistance of 

counsel claim fails. 

 4. Cumulative Error 

 Hardy claims that the cumulative effect of the trial errors deprived him of his constitutional 

right to a fair trial.  The cumulative error doctrine may entitle a defendant to a new trial when 

cumulative errors produce a trial that is fundamentally unfair.  State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 

766, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).  However, as discussed above, Hardy fails to show any error and thus 

the cumulative error doctrine does not apply. 
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 5. Same Criminal Conduct in Offender Score  

 Hardy argues that his offender score at sentencing should have been zero because the State 

failed to prove separate and distinct acts to support four acts of first degree child rape.  Hardy 

argues that because the evidence was insufficient to prove separate and distinct acts to support 

three of the counts he was convicted of at trial, these crimes constituted same criminal conduct and 

his offender score should have been zero. 

 At sentencing, the offender score is calculated by adding a specified number of points for 

each prior offense.  RCW 9.94A.525.7  However, for purposes of this calculation, current offenses 

are treated as prior convictions.  RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).  Therefore, a sentencing court’s 

determination that the crimes constitute the same criminal conduct alters the offender score and 

affects the standard sentencing range.  State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 535, 295 P.3d 219 

(2013).  Crimes constitute the “same criminal conduct” if they “ ‘require the same criminal intent, 

are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim.’ ”  Id. at 536 (quoting 

RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a)).  We will not disturb the sentencing court’s determination of same criminal 

conduct absent an abuse of discretion.  Id. 

 As discussed above, the State presented sufficient evidence at trial to show Hardy 

committed four separate and distinct acts of first degree child rape involving E.E.  Because the 

evidence showed that these separate and distinct acts were not committed at the same time and 

                                                 
7 RCW 9.94A.525 has been amended since the events of this case transpired.  However, these 

amendments do not materially affect the statutory language relied on by this court.  Accordingly, 

we refrain from including the word “former” before RCW 9.94A.525. 
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place, it was not manifestly unreasonable for the trial court to find that they did not constitute same 

criminal conduct.    Thus, Hardy’s challenge to his offender score fails. 

 Hardy also argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for not making the same criminal 

conduct argument at sentencing.  However, because he fails to show that such argument would 

have been successful, Hardy fails to show prejudice and his ineffective assistance of counsel claim 

on this basis also fails. 

We affirm. 

 A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

  

 Lee, J. 

We concur:  

  

Maxa, C.J.  

Bjorgen, J.   
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